

ROGER HICKMAN

Reel Music

EXPLORING 100 YEARS OF FILM MUSIC

Reel Music EXPLORING 100 YEARS OF FILM MUSIC

SECOND EDITION

Roger Hickman

California State University Long Beach



W. W. Norton & Company New York • London

W. W. Norton & Company has been independent since its founding in 1923, when William Warder Norton and Mary D. Herter Norton first published lectures delivered at the People's Institute, the adult education division of New York City's Cooper Union. The firm soon expanded its program beyond the Institute, publishing books by celebrated academics from America and abroad. By midcentury, the two major pillars of Norton's publishing program—trade books and college texts—were firmly established. In the 1950s, the Norton family transferred control of the company to its employees, and today—with a staff of four hundred and a comparable number of trade, college, and professional titles published each year—W. W. Norton & Company stands as the largest and oldest publishing house owned wholly by its employees.

Copyright © 2017, 2006 by W. W. Norton & Company, Inc. All rights reserved Printed in the United States of America

Second Edition

Editor: Michael Fauver

Editorial Assistant: Grant Phelps

Managing Editor, College: Marian Johnson Managing Editor, College Digital Media: Kim Yi

Associate Production Director, College: Benjamin Reynolds

Media Editor: Steve Hoge

Media Editorial Assistant: Stephanie Eads Digital Production Manager: Lizz Thabet Marketing Manager, Music: Trevor Penland Design Directors: Anna Reich and Jillian Burr

Photo Editor: Nelson Colon

Permissions Manager: Megan Schindel Copyeditors: Jodi Beder and Harry Haskell

Proofreader: Debra Nichols Indexer: Marilyn Bliss

Composition: MPS North America LLC Manufacturing: Maple Press—York, PA

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Hickman, Roger.

Title: Reel music: exploring 100 years of film music / Roger Hickman.

Description: Second edition. | New York : W. W. Norton & Company, [2017] |

Includes bibliographical references and index.

Identifiers: LCCN 2017012499 | ISBN 9780393937664 (pbk.) Subjects: LCSH: Motion picture music—History and criticism. Classification: LCC ML2075 .H5 2017 | DDC 781.5/42—dc23 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2017012499

W. W. Norton & Company, Inc., 500 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY 10110 www.orton.com

W. W. Norton & Company Ltd., 15 Carlisle Street, London W1D 3BS

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 0

To David and Evan

Thank you for your innocence and the sense of awe and amazement that you bring to the world. Wishing my grandchildren joyful lives filled with the magic of movies and music.

BRIEF CONTENTS

Preface	xxiii	
Part One	EXPLORING FILM AND MUSIC	
Chapter I	Drama and Film	3
Chapter 2	Elements of Music	15
Chapter 3	Listening to Film Music	31
Chapter 4	Forerunners of Film Music	45
Part Two	THE SILENT FILM ERA, 1895-1929	
Chapter 5	A New Art Form	61
Chapter 6	The Foundations of Modern Filmmaking	73
Chapter 7	Breaking the Sound Barrier	91
Chapter 8	Europe after World War I	107
Part Three	THE GOLDEN AGE OF SOUND, 1929-1943	
Chapter 9	The Classical Hollywood Film Score	123
Chapter 10	Lighter Musical Scores	143
Chapter 11	Hollywood and World War II	161
Chapter 12	International Filmmaking:	181
	A Golden Age Interrupted	
Part Four	NEW CHALLENGES FOR HOLLYWOOD, 1944-1959	
Chapter 13	The Postwar Years	197
Chapter 14	Expanding Modern Music, 1951-1959	217
Chapter 15	Country, Rock, and All That Jazz, 1951-1959	239
Chapter 16	The Revitalization of International Filmmaking	257

Part Five	THE NEW CINEMA, 1960-1974	
Chapter 17	The Tumultuous '60s	277
Chapter 18	The Rockin' '60s	293
Chapter 19	Emerging from the Crisis Years	311
Chapter 20	The New Wave and World Cinema	327
Part Six	SYNTHESIZING THE PAST AND EXPLORING THE NEW, 1975-1988	
Chapter 21	The Return of the Classical Score	345
Chapter 22	Alternatives to the Symphonic Score	365
Chapter 23	Box Office vs. Critics	385
Chapter 24	Global Views of the Past and Present, 1975-1988	399
Part Seven	FIN DE SIÈCLE, 1989-2000	
Chapter 25	Historical Films	417
Chapter 26	Life in America	435
Chapter 27	Animations, Comedies, Romances, and Fantasies	451
Chapter 28	World Cinema after the Cold War	469
Part Eight	THE NEW MILLENNIUM, 2001-2016	
Chapter 29	Blockbuster Fantasies and Adventures	487
Chapter 30	Seeking Heroes, Real and Imagined	509
Chapter 31	Animations, Musicals, and Dramas	529
Chapter 32	International Films Achieve Parity	547
Glossary		563
Credits		577
Indev		527

CONTENTS

Preface	xxiii	
Part One	EXPLORING FILM AND MUSIC	
Chapter I	Drama and Film	3
	ELEMENTS OF DRAMA	4
	Plot	4
	Character	6
	Setting	7
	Theme	8
	Mood	9
	ELEMENTS OF FILM	9
	Cinematography	10
	Point of View	II II
	Editing	11
Chapter 2	Elements of Music	15
	MUSIC NOTATION	16
	ELEMENTS OF PITCH AND DURATION	17
	MELODY	18
	Texture	20
	Harmony	20
	Rhythm	22
	TIMBRE	23
	Voices	23
	Symphonic Instruments	23
	Instruments of Popular Music	25
	Electronic Instruments	26

Historical Instruments

Folk and Non-Western Instruments

27

28

Chapter 3	Listening to Film Music	31
	PLACEMENT	32
	Music as the Opening and Closing Frames	32
	Music within the Narrative	33
	FUNCTION	35
	Establishing a Mood	35
	Supporting the Plot	35
	Establishing Character, Setting, Point of View, and Theme	36
	STYLE	37
	Romanticism	37
	Popular Music	37
	Modern Music	38
	Other Musical Styles	39
	SONGS	40
	UNITY	41
Chapter 4	Forerunners of Film Music	45
	DESCRIPTIVE MUSIC	46
	Programmatic Music	47
	THEATRICAL ENTERTAINMENTS	49
	Opera	49
	Ballet	51
	Close-Up: Authorship	51
	Melodrama	53
	Smaller Dramatic Presentations	56
Part Two	THE SILENT FILM ERA, 1895-1929	
Chapter 5	A New Art Form	61
	THE BIRTH OF FILM	62
	Eadweard Muybridge	62
	Close-Up: Controversial Early Figures	63
	Thomas Edison	64
	The Lumière Brothers	66
	NARRATIVE FILM	67
	Georges Méliès	67
	Edwin Porter	68
	MUSIC FOR EARLY SILENT FILM	69
	Film Venues	69
	Types of Music	70
	L'assassinat du Duc de Guise	71

Chapter	6	The Foundations of Modern Filmmaking	73
		Close-Up: Founding Fathers of American Film	74
		MUSICAL ACCOMPANIMENT	76
		FILM MUSIC	77
		CUE SHEETS AND ANTHOLOGIES	78
		NEWLY COMPOSED SCORES	79
		The Birth of a Nation	79
		Composer Profile: Joseph Carl Breil	81
		Viewer Guide 6.1 The Birth of a Nation	82
		Close-Up: Film Music Founders	84
		The Big Parade	85
		Viewer Guide 6.2 The Big Parade	86
Chapter	7	Breaking the Sound Barrier	91
		THE VITAPHONE	92
		Don Juan	93
		Viewer Guide 7.1 Don Juan	94
		The Jazz Singer	97
		SOUND ON FILM	99
		Sunrise	99
		Close-Up: The Academy Awards	99
		Viewer Guide 7.2 Sunrise	101
		THE RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT	103
		City Lights	103
		Viewer Guide 7.3 City Lights	103
Chapter	8	•	107
		Close-Up: The Golden Age of Silent Film	108
		FRANCE	109
		Composer Profile: Arthur Honegger	109
		Arthur Honegger	110
		Surrealism	110
		THE SOVIET UNION	111
		Battleship Potemkin	111
		Viewer Guide 8.1 Battleship Potemkin	111
		Dmitri Shostakovich	113
		GERMANY The California of Dr. California	114
		The Cabinet of Dr. Caligari	114
		Metropolis Viewer Guide 8 2 Metropolis	115

Part Three THE GOLDEN AGE OF SOUND, 1929-1943

Chapter	9 The Classical Hollywood Film Score	123
	Close-Up: The Hays Code	124
	HORROR FILMS	125
	King Kong	125
	Composer Profile: Max Steiner	125
	Viewer Guide 9.1 King Kong	127
	The Bride of Frankenstein	129
	ACTION AND ADVENTURE FILMS	130
	The Adventures of Robin Hood	131
	Composer Profile: Erich Korngold	131
	Viewer Guide 9.2 The Adventures	133
	of Robin Hood	
	ROMANCES	135
	Wuthering Heights	135
	EPIC FILMS	136
	Close-Up: The Golden Age of Sound	136
	Gone with the Wind	137
	Viewer Guide 9.3 Gone with the Wind	139
	the Willa	
Chapter 1	0 Lighter Musical Scores	143
	Close-Up: The Major Studios	144
	and Their Composers	
	MUSICALS	145
	Shall We Dance	147
	Viewer Guide 10.1 Shall We Dance	148
	WESTERNS	149
	Stagecoach	149
	SCREWBALL COMEDIES AND POPULIST FILMS	150
	Mr. Smith Goes to Washington	150
	ANIMATIONS	151
	Close-Up: The Animated Feature	152
	Snow White and the Seven Dwarfs	153
	THE WIZARD OF OZ	154
	Composer Profile: Herbert Stothart	156
	Underscoring in The Wizard of Oz	156
	Viewer Guide 10.2 The Wizard of Oz	157
Chapter	Hollywood and World War II	161
Chapton	THE EARLY 1940s	162
	Close-Up: Concert Composers and Hollywood	162
	Composer Profile: Bernard Herrmann	163
	oomposer i fomer bernara frei mann	100

	Citizen Kane	164
	Close-Up: Welles vs. Hearst	166
	Viewer Guide 11.1 Citizen Kane	168
	THE WAR YEARS	170
	Casablanca	171
	Viewer Guide 11.2 Casablanca	173
	The Song of Bernadette	175
	Composer Profile: Alfred Newman	176
	Viewer Guide 11.3 The Song of Bernadette	177
Chapter 12		181
	A Golden Age Interrupted	
	FRANCE	182
	La grande illusion	182
	Foreshadowing Darkness	183
	GERMANY	184
	GREAT BRITAIN	185
	Blackmail	185
	Viewer Guide 12.1 Blackmail	186
	Other Hitchcock Films	188
	Close-Up: Alfred Hitchcock	188
	Other Composers for English Films	189
	THE SOVIET UNION	190
	Composer Profile: Dmitri Shostakovich	190
	Alexander Nevsky	191
	Viewer Guide 12.2 Alexander Nevsky	192
	DEVELOPING NATIONAL INDUSTRIES	193
Part Four	NEW CHALLENGES FOR HOLLYWOOD, 1944-1959	
Chapter 13	The Postwar Years	197
	Close-Up: Blacklisting	198
	FILM NOIR	200
	Close-Up: Changing Cinematic Images of Women during the 1940s	200
	Miklós Rózsa	202
	Laura	202
	Viewer Guide 13.1 <i>Laura</i>	204
	MESSAGE MOVIES	206
	The Best Years of Our Lives	207
	Composer Profile: Hugo Friedhofer	208
	Viewer Guide 13.2 The Best Years of Our Lives	209

	Sunset Boulevard	211
	Composer Profile: Franz Waxman	211
	Viewer Guide 13.3 Sunset Boulevard	212
	Viewer Guide 13.3 Sunset Douievalu	212
Chapter 14	Expanding Modern Music, 1951-1959	217
	Close-Up: Television	218
	THE CLASSICAL SCORE: RELIGIOUS EPICS	220
	The Robe	221
	Ben-Hur	222
	Composer Profile: Miklós Rózsa	222
	Viewer Guide 14.1 Ben-Hur	224
	MODERN MUSICAL STYLES	225
	On the Waterfront	226
	Viewer Guide 14.2 On the Waterfront	227
	Rebel Without a Cause	229
	Composer Profile: Leonard Rosenman	229
	Vertigo	231
	Close-Up: Color	232
	Forbidden Planet	233
	Viewer Guide 14.3 Forbidden Planet	234
Chapter 15	Country, Rock, and All That Jazz, 1951–1959	239
	JAZZ	240
	A Streetcar Named Desire	240
	Composer Profile: Alex North	241
	Touch of Evil	242
	Anatomy of a Murder	243
	Close-Up: Directors of the 1940s and '50s	243
	THEME SONGS	244
	Composer Profile: Dimitri Tiomkin	245
	High Noon	245
	Viewer Guide 15.1 High Noon	246
	ROCK AND ROLL	249
	Blackboard Jungle	249
	OLDER POPULAR STYLES	250
	Around the World in 80 Days	250
	Some Like It Hot	251
	Viewer Guide 15.2 Some Like It Hot	252
	MUSICALS	254
	Singin' in the Rain	254
	Animated Musicals	255

Chapter 16	The Revitalization of International Filmmaking	257
	ITALY	258
	Bicycle Thieves	258
	La strada	259
	Composer Profile: Nino Rota	260
	GREAT BRITAIN	260
	The Red Shoes	26
	The Third Man	262
	Viewer Guide 16.1 The Third Man	263
	The Bridge on the River Kwai	265
	Close-Up: Major International Directors	265
	FRANCE	267
	Elevator to the Gallows	267
	SWEDEN	268
	JAPAN	268
	Seven Samurai	269
	Viewer Guide 16.2 Seven Samurai	269
	OTHER EMERGING FILM CENTERS	271
	India	27
	Brazil	272
Part Five	THE NEW CINEMA, 1960-1974	
Chapter 17	The Tumultuous '60s	277
Onaptor 17	Close-Up: A New Rating System	278
	TRANSITIONING TO A NEW AGE	279
	Spartacus	280
	Psycho	281
	Viewer Guide 17.1 <i>Psycho</i>	283
	THE NEW ERA EMERGES	285
	To Kill a Mockingbird	285
	Composer Profile: Elmer Bernstein	286
	Viewer Guide 17.2 To Kill a Mockingbird	287
	Planet of the Apes	289
	2001: A Space Odyssey	290
Chapter 18	The Rockin' '60s	293
	INSTRUMENTAL MOVIE THEMES	294
	Lawrence of Arabia	294
	Composer Profile: Maurice Jarre	295
	Viewer Guide 18.1 Lawrence of Arabia	296
	Doctor Zhivago	298
	Other Instrumental Themes	298

	THEME SONGS	299
	Breakfast at Tiffany's	299
	Viewer Guide 18.2 Breakfast at Tiffany's	300
	Other Mancini Songs	301
	Composer Profile: Henry Mancini	302
	Other Song Composers	303
	BRINGING UP BABY BOOMERS	303
	Close-Up: Drive-In Theaters	304
	James Bond	305
	MOVIES WITH MULTIPLE SONGS	306
	The Graduate	306
	Viewer Guide 18.3 The Graduate	307
	MUSICALS	309
	West Side Story	309
Chapter 19	Emerging from the Crisis Years	311
	FIGHTING CRIME AND CORRUPTION	312
	Chinatown	313
	Composer Profile: Jerry Goldsmith	314
	Viewer Guide 19.1 <i>Chinatown</i>	315
	ADAPTED SCORES	317
	A Clockwork Orange	317
	The Sting	318
	The Exorcist	318
	Adapting Classic Rock	319
	THE GODFATHER	320
	Close-Up: Producers and Directors	320
	Viewer Guide 19.2 The Godfather	323
Chapter 20	The New Wave and World Cinema	327
	FRANCE	328
	New Wave Cinema	328
	The Umbrellas of Cherbourg	329
	Viewer Guide 20.1 The Umbrellas of Cherbourg	329
	Composer Profile: Michel Legrand	331
	THE OTHER BRITISH INVASION	332
	ITALY	333
	The Good, the Bad, and the Ugly	333
	Once Upon a Time in the West	334
	Viewer Guide 20.2 Once Upon a Time	335
	in the West	

.....

	GERMANY Aguirre, The Wrath of God Close-Up: Krautrock Viewer Guide 20.3 Aguirre, The Wrath of God POPULAR SENSATIONS	337 337 338 339 340
Part Six	SYNTHESIZING THE PAST AND EXPLORING THE NEW, 1975-1988	
Chapter 21	The Return of the Classical Score JOHN WILLIAMS Jaws Close-Up: George Lucas and Steven Spielberg THE STAR WARS TRILOGY Star Wars Close-Up: Dolby Sound The Empire Strikes Back Viewer Guide 21.1 The Empire Strikes Back Return of the Jedi OTHER SCORES OF JOHN WILLIAMS IN THE LATE 1970s THE EARLY 1980s E.T. the Extra-Terrestrial Composer Profile: John Williams Raiders of the Lost Ark Viewer Guide 21.2 Raiders of the Lost Ark THE STAR TREK ENTERPRISE	345 346 346 347 348 349 351 352 355 356 356 358 360 362
Chapter 22	Alternatives to the Symphonic Score SYNTHESIZED SCORES Close-Up: The Synthesizer Midnight Express Halloween Viewer Guide 22.1 Halloween Vangelis POPULAR MUSIC Rocky Taxi Driver Nashville Viewer Guide 22.2 Nashville Saturday Night Fever ADAPTED SCORES Going for Baroque Composer Profile: Georges Delerue	365 366 367 368 368 371 372 372 373 374 376 376

	The Shining	377
	Amadeus	378
	Viewer Guide 22.3 Amadeus	380
Chapter 23	Box Office vs. Critics	385
	NEW BOX-OFFICE KINGS, 1984–1988	386
	Close-Up: Box-Office Hits	386
	Beverly Hills Cop	387
	Ghostbusters	388
	Back to the Future	388
	Top Gun	389
	POPULAR MUSIC IN DRAMATIC FILMS	390
	Rain Man	391
	Viewer Guide 23.1 Rain Man	391
	SYMPHONIC SCORES	393
	Out of Africa	393
	Viewer Guide 23.2 Out of Africa	394
	Composer Profile: John Barry	396
	Empire of the Sun	396
Chapter 24	Global Views of the Past and Present, 1975-1988	399
	HISTORICAL FILMS	400
	Gandhi	400
	The Last Emperor	400
	Viewer Guide 24.1 The Last Emperor	401
	Close-Up: Evoking Ethnic Musical Styles	403
	The Mission	405
	Composer Profile: Ennio Morricone Viewer Guide 24.2 The Mission	405
		406
	DRAMAS	408
	Cinema Paradiso	409
	Babette's Feast Viewer Guide 24.3 Babette's Feast	409 410
	West German Dramas	410
	west derman bramas	711
Part Seven	FIN DE SIÈCLE, 1989-2000	
Chapter 25	Historical Films	417
	THE DISTANT AMERICAN PAST	418
	Glory	418
	Dances with Wolves	419
	The Last of the Mohicans	420
	Viewer Guide 25.1 The Last of the Mohicans	420

XVIII Contents

	THE DISTANT EUROPEAN PAST	422
	Braveheart	422
	Composer Profile: James Horner	423
	Gladiator	424
	THE RECENT PAST	425
	Schindler's List	425
	Viewer Guide 25.2 Schindler's List	426
	Close-Up: Major Directors	428
	Titanic	430
	Viewer Guide 25.3 <i>Titanic</i>	431
	Kundun	433
Chapter 26	Life in America	435
	CRIME	436
	Goodfellas	436
	Viewer Guide 26.1 Goodfellas	437
	Pulp Fiction	438
	The Silence of the Lambs	439
	The Shawshank Redemption	440
	Composer Profile: Thomas Newman	440
	Viewer Guide 26.2 The Shawshank Redemption	441
	THE AFRICAN-AMERICAN EXPERIENCE	443
	Spike Lee	443
	Close-Up: African Americans and Film	444
	Boyz n the Hood	445
	OTHER VISIONS OF AMERICAN LIFE	445
	Forrest Gump	445
	Composer Profile: Alan Silvestri	446
	O Brother, Where Art Thou?	447
	American Beauty	447
Chapter 27	Animations, Comedies, Romances, and Fantasies	451
-	ANIMATIONS	452
	Composer Profile: Alan Menken	452
	The Little Mermaid	453
	Beauty and the Beast	453
	Viewer Guide 27.1 Beauty and the Beast	454
	Other Menken Scores	456
	The Lion King	458
	COMEDIES	458
	Home Alone	459
	Hook	459

	ROMANCES	460
	Shakespeare in Love	460
	Viewer Guide 27.2 Shakespeare in Love	461
	FANTASIES	463
	Batman	463
	Composer Profile: Danny Elfman	463
	Jurassic Park	465
	The Matrix	466
	Close-Up: Home Entertainment	466
Chapter 28	World Cinema after the Cold War	469
	ITALY	470
	GLOBAL DRAMAS	471
	The Red Violin	471
	Viewer Guide 28.1 The Red Violin	472
	Close-Up: Postmodern Concert Composers	474
	Crouching Tiger, Hidden Dragon	475
	DRAMAS ON THE LIVES OF WOMEN	476
	Raise the Red Lantern	476
	Double Life of Veronique	477
	Three Colors: Blue	477
	Composer Profile: Zbigniew Preisner	477
	Viewer Guide 28.2 Three Colors: Blue Chocolat	479
	Run Lola Run	481 481
	Viewer Guide 28.3 Run Lola Run	482
Part Eight	THE NEW MILLENNIUM, 2001–2016	
Chapter 29	Blockbuster Fantasies and Adventures	487
	THE STAR WARS PREQUELS	488
	THE STAR WARS SEQUELS	491
	Viewer Guide 29.1 Star Wars: The Force	491
	Awakens	
	HARRY AND FRODO	494
	Harry Potter	495
	The Lord of the Rings Trilogy	496
	Composer Profile: Howard Shore	496
	Viewer Guide 29.2 The Lord of the Rings: The Fellowship of the Ring	499
	EXPANDING MINIMALISM	F.O.1
	Close-Up: Minimalism	501 501
	Avatar	501

	Viewer Guide 29.3 Avatar	503
	Inception	505
	Interstellar	506
Chapter 30	Seeking Heroes, Real and Imagined	509
	Close-Up: 9/11 and Hollywood	510
	REAL-LIFE HEROES	511
	Black Hawk Down	511
	Composer Profile: Hans Zimmer	511
	Argo	512
	Viewer Guide 30.1 <i>Argo</i>	512
	DRAWING FROM FICTION: A SUPER SPY AND A SUPER SLEUTH Skyfall	514 514
	Viewer Guide 30.2 Skyfall	515
	Sherlock Holmes	516
	Viewer Guide 30.3 Sherlock Holmes:	518
	A Game of Shadows	
	ANTI-HEROES	519
	Kill Bill	520
	Django Unchained	520
	The Hateful Eight	521
	SUPERHEROES	522
	DC Comics	522
	Marvelous Heroes	523
	Spider-Man	524
	The Avengers	525
	AN EX-SUPERHERO: BIRDMAN	526
Chapter 31	Animations, Musicals, and Dramas	529
	ANIMATIONS	530
	Composer Profile: Randy Newman	530
	Finding Nemo	531
	WALL-E	531
	Up	532
	Viewer Guide 31.1 <i>Up</i>	532
	Frozen	534
	MUSICAL REPRISE	535
	Moulin Rouge!	535
	Viewer Guide 31.2 Moulin Rouge!	536
	Chicago	537
	BIOPICS	537
	Frida	538
	Finding Noverland	520

	The Social Network	539
	Viewer Guide 31.3 The Social Network	540
	Close-Up: American Independents	541
	WORLD VIEWS	542
	Babel	542
	Life of Pi	543
	Gravity	544
	Composer Profile: Alexandre Desplat	544
	The Grand Budapest Hotel	545
Chapter 32	International Films Achieve Parity	547
	Close-Up: Major Directors	548
	ANIMATIONS	549
	Spirited Away	549
	The Triplets of Belleville	550
	DRAMAS	551
	Amélie	551
	Pan's Labyrinth	552
	Atonement	553
	Viewer Guide 32.1 Atonement	553
	BEST PICTURE WINNERS	555
	Slumdog Millionaire	555
	Composer Profile: A. R. Rahman	556
	The King's Speech	557
	The Artist	557
	Viewer Guide 32.2 The Artist	558
Glossary	563	

Credits 577 Index 587

xxii Contents

PREFACE

Music is all around us. It accompanies many of our daily activities, such as driving, shopping, and exercising, and we use it to enrich a wide range of emotional experiences, from marriages to funerals, religious services to frat parties, political conventions to romantic evenings. But despite its significant role in our lives, music is often heard but not listened to.

The term "listen" suggests the active participation of the verbal mind. Certainly attentive listening adds to the aural experience of music, but discounting the simple act of hearing neglects one of music's most important attributes—the ability to touch our emotions without engaging our brains. It is this quality that makes music such an integral element of film: music can generate emotional responses while the mind is focused elsewhere, on dialogue, plot, or action. Indeed, music in film has been described as the "invisible art."

When I ask my students what they think of the music in current movies, many of them just stare back at me blankly. This observation is not intended to be critical of my students, but rather to show how subtly music works within the setting of a movie. So, when I ask students to write about music in film, I suggest that they watch the movie first without paying much attention to the music. After they've analyzed what qualities make the film unique, they can then go back and look for ways that the music contributed to those qualities. By refocusing our attention on the music, we can learn more about both the movies we love and the music that drives our everyday lives.

Like any book designed for a music appreciation class, *Reel Music* introduces a number of concepts that can be applied to a wide variety of music. Topics such as themes, thematic transformation, dissonance, timbre, style, and emotions—all part of many musical experiences—may be more readily grasped in the context of a film than with abstract music. Throughout your study of film music, you should ask yourself why the director and composer made certain choices: Were they successful in achieving their goals? What alternatives might they have chosen? In this way, you will expand your critical-thinking capabilities and accumulate tools that you can apply when listening to music of all types.

Since most of the material in this book is organized in a chronological fashion, you will also learn a good deal about film history, including general information on trends and specific information about a number of representative films. In selecting the films for this study, I have avoided defining the qualities of a great film score α priori and then limiting the book's scope to reflect my judgment. (It would be easy, for example, for a music historian to focus only on those films that have a musical approach similar to the conception of theatrical music by Richard Wagner.) Rather, I have sought out the most highly regarded films from any given period and examined how they use music. Hence, our coverage includes movies with nontraditional and non-symphonic music.

The foremost goal of this text is to study how music functions in a given film, regardless of its musical style. In the process, you will discover that music establishes psychological moods, guides our emotions, and reveals aspects of an unfolding narrative. By the end of this study, you will have gained a greater understanding of both music and film, and you may never watch or listen to another movie in quite the same way again.

THE SECOND EDITION: WHAT'S NEW?

- Over a decade of movies have appeared since the first edition of Reel Music came out. In the final four chapters (films since 2001), discussions focus on rising young composers, important musical trends, and major new film scores. Among the latter are winners of the Oscar for Best Score, such as Up (2009), The Social Network (2010), and The Hateful Eight (2015); Best Picture winners, including Slumdog Millionaire (2008), Argo (2012), and Birdman (2014); and box-office hits, highlighted by Inception (2010), The Avengers (2012), and Star Wars: The Force Awakens (2016).
- The historical overview also extends earlier. The previous edition introduced students to the prehistory of film music exclusively with Richard Wagner. Though it is appropriate to pay homage to this great master of the theater and music drama, the influences of other composers and theatrical dramas should be considered as well. Chapter 4, "Forerunners of Film Music," traces musical conventions to earlier periods of Western music history and describes the influences of and parallels to theatrical genres such as ballet and melodramas.
- The second edition covers significantly more international films. The primary focus is still on Hollywood—the movies that students most

frequently encounter—but these films are now placed within a world context. Among the international films added to Reel Music are La Strada (1956), Elevator to the Gallows (1958), Once Upon a Time in the West (1968), Aguirre, The Wrath of God (1972), Babette's Feast (1987), Three Colors: Blue (1993), Spirited Away (2001), and The Artist (2011).

- The number of Viewer Guides has more than doubled, from 24 to 68, expanding the coverage of iconic scenes and allowing for greater flexibility in choosing films to study.
- Each chapter now includes suggestions for discussion topics, activities, and readings. The activities can be completed in class or assigned as outside work. Among the discussion topics are numerous questions that make good study guides and essay prompts for exams.

TEXT OVERVIEW

Reel Music is designed for non-music and non-film majors at the university level. Majors in music and film can also benefit from instruction based on this text, but a strong background in either of the two disciplines is not required. The body of the text can be divided into two uneven sections: the introduction (Part 1) and the historical overview (Parts 2–7). Each part has four chapters.

Entitled "Exploring Film and Music," Part 1 can be discussed in class or assigned as homework. It is suggested that some class time be spent assisting non-music majors with the concepts of music and how music is used in films. Throughout the text, music examples are included for reference. (For ease of following while listening, I have simplified some of these. The principal theme for E.T. the Extra-Terrestrial, for example, is shown with eighth notes rather than the more visually complicated—and accurate—sixteenth notes.) Non-majors are encouraged to follow the notation so they can use this tool in their studies.

The four introductory chapters of Part 1 address the following topics:

Chapter 1 ("Drama and Film") presents basic concepts and terminology of drama and film.

Chapter 2 ("Elements of Music") focuses on musical terminology for non-music majors and includes a section on reading music notation.

Chapter 3 ("Listening to Film Music") examines how music functions in a film.

Chapter 4 ("Forerunners of Film Music") provides an overview of descriptive music in Western music history, with particular focus on opera, ballet, and melodrama.

Preface XXV

In each of the historical units that follow in Parts 2–7, the text divides film music into periods of varying lengths. The divisions between these sections are sometimes delineated by significant technological and historical events, and sometimes by stylistic shifts. Individual chapters focus on trends, genres, composers, or subperiods. The last chapter of each part discusses international films. Numerous Composer Profiles provide basic lists of films, and Close-Up boxes discuss nonmusical issues that may be of interest to burgeoning film connoisseurs.

FOR THE INSTRUCTOR

Film is a temporal art and, as such, occupies time during a lecture. Just as it is difficult to imagine a poetry class in which no poems are read or a music class in which no music is heard, so too is it difficult to imagine this class with no time dedicated to viewing part of a film. How much time to devote to watching films is a decision for each instructor. The Viewer Guides contain timings that will aid the instructor in class or the student at home. Since VHS tapes, DVDs, and online streaming sources (such as Netflix) have minor discrepancies, allow for some variation from the timings given in the book.

This text was created for a semester-long course comprising forty-five hours of lecture time. One could devote a single hour lecture to each chapter, which would allow for exam times and extra lecture time on chapters of the instructor's choice. For those teaching ninety-minute classes, as I do, some modifications are necessary. After completing the discussions of the Part 1 material, a quiz might be appropriate. Thereafter, you can divide the historical survey into two parts (with one midterm and a final) after Part 4, or into three (two midterms and a final) with breaks after Parts 3 and 5.

Variations can be made on this simple outline to devote time to an instructor's area of interest. Since Part 1 is written as a reference tool for students, it may not require as much lecture time. Similarly, the silent era (Part 2) has fewer films with original music and could be taught in less than six hours. The instructor may choose to apply these additional lecture hours to later units, where examples are more abundant. The discussions of music for international films are significantly more substantial, but they are isolated in single chapters. If one so chooses, these chapters can be omitted from a survey.

Film music can provide numerous opportunities for evaluating students' critical thinking, in both class discussions and written papers. Discussions can be lively—almost everyone has opinions about film. Ask your students to talk

about the mood that music creates and how that mood is achieved. Encourage students to use precise terminology in defending their views.

You can challenge students' listening and critical-thinking skills by asking specific questions: Why does the film *Rebel Without a Cause* use dissonant sounds? Why did John Williams choose to feature a solo violin in *Schindler's List*? I have enjoyed many classroom debates over the issue of music in *2001: A Space Odyssey.* Show the opening ("The Dawn of Man") as is, without music, and then repeat the scene along with a recording of Alex North's original score. Have them discuss how the music changes the impact and argue about which approach is more successful. With more-recent films, you could ask about the effect of minimalism in films such as *Inception*, the divergent approaches to scoring for the series of *Star Wars* and *The Lord of the Rings* movies, and the differences between the three action scenes featured in the book—*The Adventures of Robin Hood, Raiders of the Lost Ark*, and *Skyfall*.

Each instructor will have his or her own ideas about written projects. Try to avoid asking students to write biographies or plot descriptions. The Viewer Guides in this text are not meant to be models for student papers. Encourage them to devise a thesis that they can support in a formal writing assignment. In preparation for their analyses, you might assign the *Build Your Own Viewer Guide* exercise at the end of Chapter 6.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Writing a second edition is similar to creating a movie sequel: one attempts to retain what was successful, expand on significant threads, and incorporate new ideas that reflect the current time. Foremost I would like to thank the excellent staff at W. W. Norton & Company. Music Editor Maribeth Payne played a central role in the publication of the first edition, and Michael Fauver has guided the project through its revision. My sincere appreciation is also extended to Nelson Colon (photo researcher), Benjamin Reynolds (production manager), Anna Reich and Jillian Burr (designers), Marian Johnson (managing editor), Jodi Beder and Harry Haskell (copyeditors) and Debra Nichols (proofreader).

The final form of this edition is indebted to the guidance of a number of distinguished writers and scholars: Joren Cain, Valdosta State University; Laura Damuth, University of Nebraska; James Deaville, Carleton University; Matthew McDonald, Northeastern University; Andrew Mitchell, McMaster University; and Joan Titus, University of North Carolina at Greensboro.

Preface xxvii

I am also grateful for the support provided by California State University, Long Beach, and for encouragement from Cyrus Parker-Jeanette, Dean of Fine Arts, and Carolyn Bremer, Chairman of the Music Department. I also benefited from the encouragement of colleague Kristine Forney, who played an important role in facilitating this publication. I owe a special thanks to Maureen, who has encouraged, proofread, and advised throughout this long journey. Her keen judgment and sense of humor are reflected everywhere, beginning with the title page.

XXVIII Preface

EXPLORING FILM AND MUSIC

Drama and Film



Moving pictures allow for the combination of visual arts with both drama and music, as suggested in this scene from *Singin' in* the *Rain* (1952).

In the late nineteenth century, technology paved the way for a new type of artwork—moving pictures. Once pictures moved, they occupied time; once they occupied time, the visual arts crossed into the realm of the temporal arts, thereby enabling creative artists to combine visual images with both drama

and music. The complex interconnection of the diverse arts found in movies is a topic that is too broad for this text. Yet the study of film music necessitates an understanding of how music functions within a dramatic framework. Hence, we will consider some of the basic elements of drama and film before proceeding to those of music in Chapter 2.

ELEMENTS OF DRAMA

Most people go to the movies to be entertained. Some prefer action and fantasy, some enjoy comedies and human dramas, and, of course, many simply choose a film depending on their current mood, the actors, and the quality of the production. All of these kinds of movies share one common element—they tell a story. When a movie relates a story, it is considered to be a **narrative film**. There are other types of films, such as documentaries and art movies, but these are beyond the scope of our text. This limitation does not imply that there is less art in these other types. Indeed, some of the most critically acclaimed films are not narratives, and many of these have strong musical support.

Narrative films are the principal product of the modern movie industry. Many of their stories are original, stemming from the imagination of a creative writer. But quite frequently, legends (*Braveheart*, 1995), history (*Bridge of Spies*, 2015), or current events (*Argo*, 2012) serve as inspiration for the storyteller. A substantial number of narrative films are adaptations of existing stories, including novels (*The Great Gatsby*, 2013), short stories (2001: A Space Odyssey, 1968), plays (A Streetcar Named Desire, 1951), poems (*The Charge of the Light Brigade*, 1936), comic books (*Guardians of the Galaxy*, 2014), and even earlier films (*The Magnificent Seven*, 1960).

Western drama can be described in terms of its basic elements. Since the time of Aristotle's *Poetics* (c. 350 BCE), numerous and varied interpretations of these fundamental qualities have appeared. For our limited purposes, we will discuss five aspects that are frequently associated with drama: plot, character, setting, theme, and mood.

Plot

Stories can be told in a variety of ways. Some simply start at the beginning and continue until the story is over. Others incorporate jumps in time or location that reveal important information about the story. The structure of a story is called the **plot**. The plot provides the basic framework for the drama and for the temporal unfolding of the artwork.

Two basic plot structures are commonly encountered in Western fiction—causal and episodic (TABLE I.I). The causal plot contains four principal sections:

- Exposition: the background information necessary for the story to unfold
- Complications: a series of events stemming from a conflict; each complication leads to the next, generally building in dramatic intensity
- *Climax*: the moment of greatest tension, when the complications come to a head
- Resolution (or denouement): the end of the story, in which the complications are resolved, and the loose ends are tied together

Two of Hollywood's most popular films provide examples of the causal plot: *Star Wars* (1977) and *The Godfather* (1974). In George Lucas's initial venture into the *Star Wars* series, little time is used for the exposition. One could

TABLE I.I Traditional plot structures			
CAUSAL PLOT	EPISODIC PLOT		
Exposition	Exposition		
Complications	Episodes		
Climax	Climax		
Resolution	Resolution		



FIGURE I.I A scrolled prologue provides the essential background material of an exposition in *Star Wars*.

argue that it is given during the scrolled prologue. Once the film begins, the action takes off. The first complication is the attack on the rebel ship by the Imperial fleet. This leads to an extended series of other complications that climax with the destruction of the Death Star. For the resolution, the heroes of the action are honored in a grand ceremony. By contrast, *The Godfather* has an

extended exposition that includes the interaction with a Hollywood film director, which is essentially unrelated to the central story. Once the Godfather refuses to help the other mobs to deal drugs, complications build on each other directly until Michael assumes the role as the new Godfather at the climax.

Although the **episodic plot** is similar to the causal plot in a number of respects, the difference between the two approaches is significant. Rather than moving through a series of complications, an episodic plot presents a succession of events that do not build directly from one to the next. These episodes often



FIGURE 1.2 The Hollywood mansion of a movie director serves as the setting for a portion of the exposition in *The Godfather.*



FIGURE 1.3 One episode in *Apocalypse Now* shows a helicopter attack accompanied by the music of Wagner.

function as brief subplots, and their ordering is seemingly random. An example of an episodic plot is *Apocalypse Now* (1979), adapted from Joseph Conrad's *Heart of Darkness*. The beginning and end of this film are clearly connected, but Captain Willard's river journey during the middle of the film contains numerous unrelated episodes. Changing the order of these events would not impact the plot as a whole, which is a clear indication of an episodic story. Narratives involving travel—*Don Quixote*, *Gulliver's Travels*, *Huckleberry Finn*—frequently have an episodic structure.

Both of these basic formulas are subject to numerous variations and nuances. Some stories have multiple plots, each with its own structure. **Flashbacks** interrupt the chronological flow of the story, often bringing new insights to the current situation by showing events from the past. A story that maintains a strict chronological timeline is said to have a **linear plot**, while a plot that incorporates either logical or illogical jumps in time is called a **nonlinear plot**. **Epic** stories tend to have a long string of complications that lead to a number of climaxes while conveying a larger story of a person's life or a major event. Another common variation of the standard structure is the omission of the resolution. A chilling effect can be created by abruptly ending at the climax, leaving the audience in shocked disbelief, as in the final moments of *Bonnie and Clyde* (1967).



FIGURE 1.4 Bonnie and Clyde ends abruptly after the violent deaths of the two protagonists.

Character

The term "character" is applied in a number of ways in drama. In its most general sense, a character is simply someone in a story. The principal character is called the **protagonist**, and it is primarily through his or her eyes and experiences that we follow a story. Many plots involve a principal adversary, called the **antagonist**, who generates a conflict that sets a series of complications in motion. The interplay between these two key figures often creates the basic tension of the story, as in the classic stories of Sherlock Holmes and his archnemesis Professor Moriarty.



FIGURE 1.5 Sherlock Holmes: A Game of Shadows (2011). Holmes has been a protagonist in literature and movies for over 100 years.



FIGURE 1.6 Sherlock Holmes: A Game of Shadows. Professor Moriarty, an antagonist. was Holmes's brilliant rival.

For a drama to maintain interest, the characters in a story need to appeal to an audience through their psychological makeup, the conflicts they endure, and the changes they undergo. We admire some characters for being ideal heroes like James Bond, but we are also attracted to other characters that are more like ourselves or people we know. Among the techniques that contribute to characterization in film are the character's actions, physical appearance, and language; the camera technique; and, of course, the music.

Setting

The term **setting**, which refers to both the location and the time frame in which a story takes place, can have an important influence on a narrative. The settings in small towns and suburbia in films such as the Twilight series (2008-2012), Fargo (1994), and American Beauty (1999) contribute to the mood and impact of these diverse stories. In movies such as Slumdog Millionaire (2008), Birdman (2014), and Do the Right Thing (1989), the sights and sounds of city life are essential to the unfolding dramas. By way of contrast, the vastness of outer space and uninhabited planets provide stark contrasts for the heroic efforts to survive in Interstellar (2014).

Settings can have a strong psychological effect. The differences between Superman's bright Metropolis and Batman's dark Gotham City contribute greatly to the contrasting moods of these movies. Some stories unfold in restrictive settings that create a sense of being trapped, such as the makeshift boat (with a tiger) in Life of Pi (2012) and the prison in Shawshank Redemption (1994). The terror in Jurassic World (2015) is similarly intensified by its setting: an isolated island with nowhere to run or hide



FIGURE 1.7 The natural beauty of Pandora serves as a background to the cruelty of man in *Avatar*.

In some instances, the setting runs counter to the mood or action of the story. War movies, such as *Platoon* (1986), often give fleeting glimpses of the beauty of nature. Similarly, *The Mission* (1986), *Braveheart* (1995), and *Avatar* (2009) juxtapose stunning landscape panoramas with scenes of horrific violence. In these films, this contrast serves as a reminder of the beauty of the natural world, which stands in direct opposition to the cruelty of man.

The time period for a particular story can also be significant. A movie set in a defined historical era is often referred to as a **period**

film, a term that suggests attention to details of costumes, scenery, and manners. Films such as Amadeus (1984) and Shakespeare in Love (1998) provide us with fascinating glimpses of the past. Plots are sometimes set in historical eras that underwent rapid change, thereby creating a sense of uncertainty and even chaos. Ingmar Bergman's The Seventh Seal (1957) is set during the years of disillusionment following the Crusades, and Akira Kurosawa's Seven Samurai (1954) takes place during the decline of Japan's feudal system. Similarly, Kirk Douglas portrays one of the West's last cowboys struggling to adjust to modern America in Lonely Are the Brave (1962). In all of these stories, the vision of changing traditions has a clear parallel with contemporary American life.

Fantasy films enjoy a wide variety of settings. Some, such as 2001: A Space Odyssey (1968), Avatar (2009), and Mad Max Fury Road (2015), show us the future. By contrast, two of Hollywood's most popular film trilogies are set in the mysterious past. The Lord of the Rings takes us to the mythical world of Middle-earth, at a time before the histories of man were recorded. Similarly, Star Wars, despite its futuristic images, is set "a long time ago." This simple statement fires the imagination and encourages us to speculate about how these stories connect to our own history.

Theme

A **theme** is the central idea underlying a given story. If the plot gives us the basic actions of a story, then the theme provides us with its intellectual meaning. In *Citizen Kane*, for example, the essential facts of the story are presented in the opening newsreel. But it is the fascinating retelling of the story from five different perspectives that adds details and slowly reveals the principal theme, which is tied to the word "Rosebud."

In this strict literary use of the term, not all films have themes. Some, such as slapstick comedies or light musicals, simply provide entertainment. By contrast, other films may have themes that are too obvious and heavy-handed, and these are often dismissed as propaganda. The racist theme found in *The Birth of a Nation* (1915) mars this otherwise brilliant work of art.

The most highly regarded films tend to deal with serious issues, such as religion, patriotism, and morality. Underneath the hilarious physical comedy of City Lights (1931) are the poignant themes of selflessness and the beauty of love. To Kill a Mockingbird (1962) teaches us about prejudice with a dual story of racism and fear of someone who is different. Among more recent movies, WALL-E (2008), Avatar, and Interstellar (2014) all have strong messages about the future of our planet without serious environmental controls, although their surface content is radically different. Films such as these impart meaningful messages that can have a profound impact on an audience.

Mood

A movie may be funny, sad, whimsical, profound, optimistic, or dark, or possess any of countless other emotional qualities. This quality is called **mood** or **tone**. The mood of the film can run counter to its story and theme. For example, *Django Unchained* (2012) shows excessive violence and deals with serious issues of revenge and slavery. Yet, the overall mood, often supported with Tarantino's choices of music, is generally lighthearted, and the contrast creates what is called black humor.

Directors have a number of tools they can employ to create specific moods. Among the most powerful are the visual elements and music. The overall mood is often suggested at the onset. When a film begins with a title and credits, music and visual elements can anticipate the general tone for the ensuing narrative. The music accompanying the opening credits of *Gone with the Wind* (1939), *Psycho* (1960), and *The Graduate* (1967) establishes appropriate moods for those films. In *Citizen Kane* (1941), the absence of music during the opening credits helps to create a sense of seriousness, which underlies the entire drama.

ELEMENTS OF FILM

The creation of a film occurs in three stages—preproduction, production, and post-production. The preproduction phase, largely controlled by the producer, involves the planning and preparation of the film, and may take several years. Once production begins, the film is in the hands of the director, who oversees the activities of